FILED
DEC 07 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/28/2017 12:21 PM

E 95274-4

SUPREME COURT NO. _____

NO. 75258-8-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DOMINIQUE NORRIS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Patrick Oishi, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JENNIFER WINKLER
Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Dominique Norris asks this Court to review the decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in section B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals' published decision in State v. Dominique Norris, filed October 30, 2017 ("Opinion" or "Op."), which is appended to this petition.¹

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

As a condition of community custody, the court ordered the petitioner to "[i]nform the supervising [community corrections officer (CCO)] and sexual deviancy treatment provider of *any dating relationship*." CP 43 (emphasis added).

Is this condition unconstitutionally vague?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Dominique Norris with two counts of second degree child rape, alleged to have occurred between December 1, 2009 and February 28, 2010. CP 1-2. The complainant, 13-year-old D.T., was the younger brother of Norris's children's father. CP 3. The State alleged

¹ The opinion can also be found at State v. Norris, ___ Wn. App. ___, 404 P.3d 83 (2017).

Norris and D.T. initially had sexual contact at D.T.'s residence, when Norris was staying there, and later at Norris's own residence. CP 3.

Norris pleaded guilty to three counts of second degree child molestation in March of 2012. CP 11-24, 35; RCW 9A.44.086. The court suspended a standard-range 72-month sentence and imposed a Special Sex Offender Sentence Alternative (SSOSA) under RCW 9.94A.670. CP 38. The court ordered Norris to, among other requirements, undergo sex offender treatment and comply with certain conditions as set forth in Appendix H of the judgment and sentence. CP 39. The court added additional conditions at subsequent hearings. E.g. CP 113-17.

The State sought revocation of Norris's SSOSA in April of 2016. CP 70. The State alleged Norris violated the conditions of her suspended sentence by consuming marijuana and consuming more oxycodone than the prescribed amount. CP 121, 124.

Norris agreed the underlying acts occurred. CP 74. But she requested that, rather than revoking the SSOSA, the court sanction Norris with jail time and then permit her to enter drug treatment. Norris argued in the alternative that, even if true, the factual allegations did not, as a matter of law, permit revocation of the SSOSA. CP 72-76; RP 92-104 (defense counsel's argument at May 17, 2016 hearing on revocation).

The court revoked Norris's SSOSA. RP 117; CP 96-97 (written findings, stating that Norris willfully violated the terms of suspended sentence by "ingest[ing] marijuana" and "failing to consume . . . oxycodone . . . as prescribed").

The court imposed the previously suspended sentence including 72 months of confinement and 36 months of community custody. CP 38, 40. The court also imposed a plethora of community custody conditions. CP 43-44.

Norris appealed, challenging six of the conditions. The Court of Appeals held four of the six challenged conditions were invalid, Op. at 6, 9, 11, 12, but it affirmed two others, including the one Norris now challenges. Op. at 4-6 (rejecting vagueness challenge to dating relationship condition).

Norris now asks this Court to accept review and reverse the Court of Appeals as to the dating relationship condition.

E. REASONS REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(2) AND (3) BECAUSE THE CASE HIGHLIGHTS A CONFLICT BETWEEN DIVISIONS OF THE COURT OF APPEALS AND PRESENTS AN SIGNIFICANT CONSTITUTIONAL QUESTION.

This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3). The case presents a significant constitutional question involving a vague community custody condition. This case, therefore, potentially affects the

supervision of several probationers throughout the State. Moreover, the Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with an unpublished decision from Division Three of the Court of Appeals. This Court should grant review and reverse the unconstitutionally vague condition.

1. The "dating relationship" condition is unconstitutionally vague.

The condition requiring Norris to inform her CCO and treatment provider of any dating relationship is unconstitutionally vague and should be stricken.

The due process vagueness doctrine under the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3 of the Washington Constitution requires the State to provide citizens with fair warning of proscribed conduct. State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 752, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). The doctrine also protects from arbitrary, ad hoc or discriminatory enforcement. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 116-17, 857 P.2d 270 (1993). A prohibition is therefore void for vagueness if it does not (1) define the prohibition with sufficient definiteness such that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited; or (2) provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 752-53.

The condition here does not provide Norris with adequate notice of what she must do to avoid sanction and does not prevent arbitrary enforcement. The question is what constitutes a “dating relationship.”

Commonly understood, a “relationship” is “a state of affairs existing between those having relations or dealing.” WEBSTER’S THIRD NEW INT’L DICTIONARY 1916 (1993). In the context of interaction between people, a “date” means “an appointment or engagement [usually] for a specified time . . . [especially]: an appointment between two persons of the opposite sex for the mutual enjoyment of some form of social activity” or “an occasion (as an evening) of social activity arranged in advance between two persons of opposite sex.” *Id.* at 576. Referring to a person, a “date” is “a person of the opposite sex with whom one enjoys such an occasion of social activity.” *Id.*

Such behavior conceivably covers a large range of human interaction. The condition, as written, leaves the dividing line between a non-dating relationship and a dating relationship intractably blurry. The condition requires Norris to take affirmative action to avoid running afoul of her sentence but requires her to do so without a standard for determining when she must do so. The condition does not provide Norris adequate notice as to what relationships she is prohibited from forming. A reasonable person cannot describe a standard necessary to avoid arbitrary enforcement.

Suppose Norris has dinner with a man in a restaurant. Is that a date? Would that constitute a “dating relationship”? What if it was a one-time occasion? Is that enough to form a “relationship” with someone? Does meeting someone twice for a social activity turn an ordinary relationship into a dating relationship? Three times? Suppose Norris strikes up a relationship with a man online, and then they go out to a movie together. Is that a dating relationship or something else? What if Norris and another person often enjoy social activities together, but consider themselves “just friends.” Does that nonetheless qualify as a dating relationship?

A condition that leaves so much room for speculation is unconstitutionally vague because it gives too much discretion to the CCO to determine when a violation has occurred. See State v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 794-95, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010) (striking down prohibition on “paraphernalia” as follows: “‘an inventive probation officer could envision any common place item as possible for use as drug paraphernalia,’ such as sandwich bags or paper Another probation officer might not arrest for the same ‘violation,’ i.e. possession of a sandwich bag. A condition that leaves so much to the discretion of individual community corrections officers is unconstitutionally vague.”).

If the phrase “dating relationship” is meant to be limited to a romantic relationship, however, the vagueness problem remains. United

States v. Reeves, 591 F.3d 77 (2d Cir. 2010) is instructive. Reeves held a condition of supervision requiring the defendant to notify the probation department upon entry into a “significant romantic relationship” was vague, in violation of due process. Id. at 79, 81. The court observed that “people of common intelligence (or, for that matter, of high intelligence) would find it impossible to agree on the proper application of a release condition triggered by entry into a ‘significant romantic relationship.’” Id. at 81. “What makes a relationship ‘romantic,’ let alone ‘significant’ in its romantic depth, can be the subject of endless debate that varies across generations, regions, and genders.” Id. The condition had “no objective baseline,” as “[n]o source provides anyone—courts, probation officers, prosecutors, law enforcement officers, or Reeves himself—with guidance as to what constitutes a ‘significant romantic relationship.’” Id.

The condition in Norris’s case suffers from the same sort of defect. “Subjective terms allow a ‘standardless sweep’ that enables state officials to ‘pursue their personal predilections’ in enforcing the community custody conditions.” State v. Johnson, 180 Wn. App. 318, 327, 327 P.3d 704 (2014) (quoting City of Spokane v. Douglass, 115 Wn.2d 171, 180 n.6, 795 P.2d 693 (1990) (quoting Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 358, 103 S. Ct. 1855, 75 L. Ed. 2d 903 (1983)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Norris’s liberty during supervised release should not hinge on the accuracy of her

prediction of whether a given CCO, prosecutor, or judge would conclude that a targeted relationship had been entered without first informing the CCO or treatment provider. The condition, as written, does not provide a standard by which a reasonable person can understand what qualifies as “dating relationship,” and what does not, in a non-arbitrary manner.

There is no presumption in favor of the constitutionality of a community custody condition. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d at 792-93. Imposition of an unconstitutional condition is manifestly unreasonable. Id. at 792. The condition here is unconstitutional because it fails to provide reasonable notice as to what Norris must do to comply with it. The condition exposes Norris to arbitrary enforcement. As such, the condition does not meet the requirements of due process and should be stricken altogether or modified to comply with due process.

2. This case represents a conflict between two divisions of the Court of Appeals.

This case represents a conflict between Division One and Division Three of the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals’ opinion asserts that Reeves is distinguishable because it involved a prohibition on “significant romantic” relationships. Op. at 6. According to the Court of Appeals, the qualifiers “significant” and “romantic” created an extra layer of subjectivity, rendering the condition

in that case vague. Norris's condition does not suffer from that sort of defect. Op. at 6.

Unlike Division One, however, Division Three of the Court of Appeals adopted the Reeves court's reasoning in State v. Dickerson, noted at 194 Wn. App. 1014, 2016 WL 3126480 (2016) (unpublished).

In Dickerson, the trial court imposed a community custody condition prohibiting Dickerson from "enter[ing] a romantic relationship without the prior approval of the [community corrections officer] and Therapist." Dickerson, 2016 WL 3126480 at *1 (alteration in original). Relying on Reeves, Division Three of the Court of Appeals held the condition was unconstitutionally vague because "it is not clear which relationships will require the permission of both the community custody corrections officer and therapist." Id. at *5. Further, "[t]he condition is open to arbitrary enforcement by community custody officers and therapists with different ideas about the point at which a relationship becomes romantic." Id.

The condition in Dickerson, by prohibiting "romantic" relationships, did not contain "highly subjective qualifiers"² but still the court struck it down as vague. Contrary to the Court of Appeals opinion in

² Op. at 6.

this case, the condition in Norris's case suffers from the same kind of defect afflicting the invalid conditions in Dickerson and Reeves.

3. The existence of a statutory definition somewhere in the Revised Code of Washington does not insulate the condition from a vagueness challenge.

The mere existence of a statutory definition for a phrase used in a community custody condition does not insulate the condition from a vagueness challenge.

The Court of Appeals noted, in a footnote, that the phrase "dating relationship" is defined by statute at RCW 26.50.010(2). Op. at 6 n. 6.

This is of no moment. The condition in this case references no statute or statutory definition. Moreover, Norris was not convicted of a crime under the statutory scheme that contains the definition. A statutory definition of a term does not give notice of the term's meaning as used in a sentence unless the definition is contained in the same criminal statute that the defendant was convicted of violating. Farrell v. Burke, 449 F.3d 470, 487 (2d Cir. 2006) (cited by Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 755); accord United States v. Thompson, 653 F.3d 688, 696 (8th Cir. 2011). Norris was not convicted of violating a protection order under chapter 26.50 RCW, so the definition of the term "dating relationship" in that chapter cannot defeat Norris's vagueness challenge.

In Bahl, this Court declined to decide whether the statutory definition of “sexually explicit” alone would provide sufficient notice. Bahl was not convicted under that statute. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 760. Similarly, the concurrence in Sanchez Valencia maintained a statutory definition of the term “drug paraphernalia” would be sufficient “to dispel vagueness concerns” only where the person was convicted of a drug offense. Valencia, 169 Wn.2d at 796 n.1 (J.M. Johnson, J., concurring).

Norris was convicted under chapter 9A.44 RCW. CP 35. No unreferenced statutory definition of the term “dating relationship” found in the domestic violence statute dispels the vagueness problem.

In this respect, Norris’s case is like State v. Moultrie, in which the defendant challenged as unconstitutionally vague the condition of his sentence prohibiting contact with “vulnerable, ill or disabled adults”. State v. Moultrie, 143 Wn. App. 387, 396, 177 P.3d 776, review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1035 (2008). The State argued the terms “vulnerable” and “disabled” provided sufficient notice of the type of person with whom Moultrie is to avoid contact because those terms were defined by statute. Id. at 397. The Court of Appeals rejected the State’s argument: “Because there is no indication that the trial court in fact intended to limit the terms of the order to these statutory definitions, we will not presume it did so or otherwise rewrite the trial court’s order.” Id. at 397-98. In Moultrie, the

statutorily defined terms of “vulnerable” and “disabled” were the exact terms used in the sentencing condition and the condition was still found to be lacking. Id. at 396-97.

Again, as in Moultrie, there is nothing in the judgment and sentence that shows the trial court intended to limit the condition on “dating relationships” to its statutory definition. Cf. RCW 26.50.010(2) (specifying that the “[f]actors that the court may consider in [determining whether a dating relationship exists] include: (a) The length of time the relationship has existed; (b) the nature of the relationship; and (c) the frequency of interaction between the parties.”).

A community custody condition prohibiting conduct must give ordinary people sufficient notice to “understand what conduct is proscribed.” State v. Irwin, 191 Wn. App. 644, 655, 364 P.3d 830 (2015) (quoting Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 753). And it must also be sufficiently definite to prevent arbitrary enforcement. Irwin, 191 Wn. App. at 655.

The prohibition here fails in both respects. This Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and determine that the dating relationship condition is unconstitutionally vague.