FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/6/2017 2:26 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON

CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. ____ -_ COURT OF APPEALS NO. 75258-8-I

95214-4

DEC 0 7 2017 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREMBLOORT

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

DOMINIQUE NORRIS,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

IAN ITH
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

ORIGINAL

filed via

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington is the Respondent in this case.

B. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Court of Appeals decision at issue is State v. Norris, _____ Wn. App. ____, 404 P.3d 83, No. 75258-8-I, filed October 30, 2017.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The State asks this Court to deny Norris's petition for review because the court of appeals correctly held that "dating relationships" is sufficiently clear to survive constitutional challenge. The State cross-petitions for review of the court of appeals' decisions regarding crime-related community custody conditions. The issue the State presents is whether, under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA), the subject of a crime-related community-custody prohibition must have been actually involved in the commission of the crime to be reasonably related to the circumstances of the crime.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dominique Norris repeatedly had sex with a 12-year-old boy.

CP 3, 27. In March 2012, she pleaded guilty to three counts of second-degree child molestation. CP 9-34. The sentencing court

imposed a 72-month standard range sentence, suspended under a special sexual offender sentencing alternative (SSOSA). CP 35-41. The judgment and sentence included an appendix with standard and special conditions of community custody. CP 43. After a pattern of violations, the SSOSA was revoked in May 2016 and the sentencing court imposed the original 72-month term, including the community custody conditions. CP 47-68, 96-97.

Norris appealed several of her community-custody conditions. The Court of Appeals in a published opinion affirmed two of the conditions, reversed two others entirely and ordered still two more to be partially stricken. State v. Norris, ____ Wn. App. ____, 404 P.3d 83, No. 75258-8-I, (Wash. Ct. App. October 30, 2017).

Most relevant to this answer and cross-petition, the court of appeals affirmed a condition requiring Norris to report any "dating relationships," finding that the term is not unconstitutionally vague.

404 P.3d 87. It reversed the crime-related prohibition on entering sex-related businesses because such businesses were not factually involved in the commission of Norris's crimes. Id. at 89. It affirmed the prohibition on sexually explicit material because Norris had exchanged sex-related text messages with her victim. Id.

E. ARGUMENT

For the reasons outlined below, this Court should reject Norris's petition for review of the community-custody condition pertaining to dating relationships. Instead, this Court should grant the State's cross-petition to review the lower court's reversal of the condition pertaining to sex-related businesses, and its reasoning pertaining to the prohibition on sexually explicit materials. RAP 13.4(d).

1. THE COURT SHOULD DENY NORRIS'S PETITION FOR REVIEW.

RAP 13.4(b) governs consideration of a petition for review. It provides that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

For the following reasons, review should be denied.

a. Review Is Unnecessary Because The Published Court Of Appeals Decision Clearly And Correctly Addressed The Constitutional Vagueness Question.

Norris repeats the argument she made to the court of appeals that the community-custody condition requiring her to report any "dating relationships" is unconstitutionally vague. But she does not explain why the published opinion of the court of appeals is not sufficient to resolve this question without this Court's review. To the contrary, the court of appeals' opinion on this issue is quite succinct, well-reasoned, commonsensical and in line with prior opinions of this Court. See, e.g., State v. Sanchez Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 792, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010) (community custody condition not unconstitutionally vague merely because a person cannot predict with complete certainty the exact point at which actions would be prohibited). The court of appeals correctly, and quite naturally, determined that the term "dating relationships" is clear.

Norris complains that the court of appeals included a footnote to "note that the legislature defined 'dating relationship' in the context of domestic relations to mean 'a social relationship of a romantic nature." 404 P.3d at 87 fn 6 (citing RCW 26.50.010(2)).

But Norris did not argue below that statutory definitions are irrelevant (she did not file a reply brief or raise the claim at oral argument). This Court should not review this claim. State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this Court).

Regardless, the court of appeals did not rely on the statutory definition to conclude the term "dating relationship" is clear. Its decision was controlled by a common understanding of the term and a dictionary definition. 404 P.3d at 87. Review is not warranted simply to comment on a tertiary point in a footnote.

No significant constitutional issue is presented.

b. There Is No Conflict Between Divisions On This Issue.

Norris contends that the published opinion in her case is in conflict with an unpublished opinion by division three, <u>State v.</u>

<u>Dickerson.</u>

1 That is not so. <u>Dickerson</u> addressed a different term, "romantic relationship," not "dating relationship." 2016 WL 3126480 at *1. The term in <u>Dickerson</u> is far less concrete than the term at issue here. In fact, the court of appeals in <u>Norris</u> specifically

¹ No. 32899-6-III, 2016 WL 3126480 (Wash. Ct. App. May 26, 2016).

distinguished "dating relationship" from "romantic relationship" by finding that "romantic" is "highly subjective" while "dating" is not. 404 P.3d at 87. There is no conflict between divisions.

This Court should not accept review of this issue.

2. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT THE STATE'S CROSS PETITION TO REVIEW THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISIONS REGARDING SEX-RELATED BUSINESSES AND SEXUALLY EXPLICIT MATERIAL.

Review is warranted as to the court of appeals' decision and reasoning regarding crime-related prohibitions. The lower court's decision followed an untenably restrictive interpretation of what constitutes a "reasonably related" prohibition for the purposes of community custody. This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court because it involves community-custody conditions in countless sex-offense sentencings. See RAP 13.4(b)(4). Also, Division One's narrow interpretation here is in conflict with another opinion from Division Three of the court of appeals. See RAP 13.4(b)(2).

a. The Court Of Appeals Interpretation Of "Reasonably Related" Is Untenably Narrow.

prohibitions" as conditions of community custody. RCW 9.94A.703(3)(f). "Crime-related prohibitions" must "directly relate[] to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted[.]" RCW 9.94A.030(10). But such conditions are usually upheld if "reasonably crime related." State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 32, 195 P.3d 940, 947 (2008). For example, in Warren, this Court upheld a lifetime prohibition directing Warren to avoid contact with the mother of Warren's child-molestation and child-rape victims, even though the mother was not a victim. Id. at 32.

Appellate courts review the factual basis for crime-related conditions under a "substantial evidence" standard. State v. Irwin, 191 Wn. App. 644, 656-57, 364 P.3d 830 (2015). Reviewing courts will strike community custody conditions when there is "no evidence" in the record that the circumstances of the crime related to the community custody condition. Id. at 657. On the other hand, courts will uphold crime-related community custody decisions when there is some basis for the connection; there is no requirement that the prohibited activity be factually identical to the crime. Id. For

example, in <u>State v. Kinzle</u>, also a child molestation case, the court upheld a prohibition on dating women with minor children, even though the defendant had not molested children of the women that he dated. 181 Wn. App. 774, 785, 326 P.3d 870 (2014).

Here, the court of appeals followed an unworkably narrow interpretation of "reasonably related" that, if taken to its logical conclusion, would prevent a large number of quite reasonable community-custody conditions that are important for public safety. Under the strict interpretation of the appeals court here, a condition is "reasonably related" to the crime only if such facts were actually involved in the commission of the crime, not just related to its circumstances, i.e., the broader nature of the offense.

For example, by the lower court's reasoning, a felon convicted of committing a serious, violent assault by punching or kicking someone could not be prohibited from possessing weapons because a weapon was not actually involved in the commission of the crime. Such a narrow interpretation would undercut the legislature's intent in prohibiting "crime related" prohibitions and would undermine public safety. The more reasoned interpretation

is that prohibiting weapons is reasonably related to the circumstances of violently attacking people.²

That more measured interpretation allows sentencing courts the discretion to look at the broader circumstances of each crime to impose reasonably related prohibitions. That means, as here, that prohibitions on entering sex businesses and possessing sexually explicit material are reasonably related to the circumstances of sexually victimizing and objectifying vulnerable people. But a rigid rule that requires those materials or businesses to have been materially involved in the actual commission of the crime, rather than the overall circumstances of the crime, would prevent such reasonable conditions from being imposed to protect the public.

Regardless of how this Court were to resolve the issue, it is an important one that affects countless criminal cases, and it should be clarified by this Court to provide guidance to the lower courts.

² The court of appeals here appears to have misunderstood the State to be arguing simply for a "categorical" approach, i.e., that prohibitions on sexually explicit materials and sex-related businesses are *always* related to *all* sex offenses *per se*. That is not what the State argued here. While the State agreed that it would be difficult to imagine a situation where a prohibition on such materials and businesses was not reasonably related to a felony sex offense, the State's position is that each case should be determined separately, but what is "reasonably related" to the circumstances of the crime should not be rigidly construed to prohibit only those things that were factually involved in the commission of the crime.

b. This Decision Conflicts With Another Decision By The Court Of Appeals.

In interpreting "reasonably related" to mean that the subject of the prohibition must have been utilized or otherwise actually involved in the commission of the crime, the court of appeals here expressly disagreed with the published opinion by Division Three of the court of appeals in <u>State v. Magana</u>, 197 Wn. App. 189, 194, 389 P.3d 654, 657 (2016). This Court should resolve this conflict to provide clarity to the lower courts on this issue.

In <u>Magana</u>, the defendant was convicted of third-degree child rape for having sex with a 14-year-old girl he met online. <u>Id.</u> at 193. On appeal, he challenged as not crime-related his community-custody prohibitions on sex businesses and sexually explicit material, identical to Norris here. The Division Three court held that the trial court had not abused its discretion in imposing the prohibitions: "Because Mr. Magana was convicted of a sex offense, conditions regarding access to X-rated movies, adult book stores, and sexually explicit materials were all crime related and properly imposed." <u>Id.</u> at 201.

Here, the court of appeals considered <u>Magana</u> and concluded that "[t]o the extent <u>Magana</u> stands for either a

categorical approach or the broad proposition that a sex offense conviction alone justifies imposition of a crime-related prohibition, we disagree." 404 P.3d at 89. Magana and Norris fundamentally conflict, and this Court should resolve that conflict.

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However it respectfully asks that it grant the State's cross petition to review the issue in Section 2 above.